IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALEX GUP, M.D., and THE MEDICAL CENTER CLINIC,

Petitioners,

vs.

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioners, The Medical Center Clinic and Dr. Alex Gup, were defendants at the trial level, and were appellants before the First District Court of Appeal. They will be referred to by name in this brief--"Dr. Gup" and "the Clinic".

Respondents, Katherine Cook and Ernest Cook, were plaintiffs at the trial level, and were appellees before the First District Court of Appeal. They will be referred to by name--"Mr. and Mrs. Cook".

References to the Record on Appeal will be in the form of "R. ____". References to the Transcript will be in the form of "T. ____".

References are also made to depositions. Depositions are indexed as a separate item in the Record, and are filed in four separate volumes--I through IV. Each deposition is assigned a letter designation--A through U. Reference to the depositions will cite "Depo.", with the volume number, the letter designation, the last name of the deponent, and the pages cited. For example: (Depo. Vol. III, N, Smith pp 28-29).

This brief cites two Mercy Hospital cases. Both cases involved the same parties, on appeal twice for different issues. They will be referred to as Mercy Hospital I and Mercy Hospital II. Mercy Hospital, Inc. v. Menendez, 371 So.2d 1977 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) (Mercy Hospital I) was cited by the First District Court of Appeal as being in conflict with its decision, because it requires the plaintiff, not the defendant, to join the Fund

as a defendant. Mercy Hospital, Inc. v. Menendez, 400 So.2d 48 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) (Mercy Hospital II) was relied on by the trial court in requiring a \$100,000.00 per claim escrow account.

A copy of the Opinion of the First District Court of Appeal is attached as the Appendix to this brief.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of a claim for medical malpractice.

The case was tried before a jury on June 14-16, 1986. A verdict was returned in favor of the plaintiffs Cook on June 16, 1986.

The defendants, Dr. Gup and the Medical Center Clinic, appealed on two issues to the First District Court of Appeal.

On September 20, 1989, the First District Court of Appeal rendered its decision. The First District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court on one issue, but affirmed on the second issue. However, in affirming the second issue, the First District Court of Appeal certified that its decision was in conflict with Mercy Hospital, Inc. vs. Menendez, 371 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) (Mercy Hospital I). The opinion of the First District Court of Appeal on the issue now before this court was a 2 to 1 decision, with The Honorable Anne Booth dissenting.

On October 5, 1989, Dr. Gup and the Medical Center Clinic filed their Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court, pursuant to Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi).

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of a claim for medical malpractice.

We will divide the Statement of the Facts into "Background

Facts", and "Specific Facts", with the latter statement reciting

those specific facts which relate to the pending issues.

BACKGROUND FACTS

The original claim for malpractice alleged that Dr. Alex Gup, a urologist, failed to timely diagnose a cancerous tumor in Mrs. Cook's bladder. The claim against the Medical Center Clinic, of which Dr. Gup was a member, was that Dr. Gup and other employees of the Clinic, including Dr. Thomas Wyatt, an obstetrician, failed to inform Mrs. Cook of her need to return for follow-up care, thereby contributing to the delayed diagnosis of cancer. They were treating Mrs. Cook for urinary tract problems in late 1977 and early 1978 when Mrs. Cook was pregnant with her third child.

Mrs. Cook last saw Dr. Gup on December 17, 1977. According to the allegations in the Complaint the claim against Dr. Gup and the Clinic had existed on or before that date. On that date there was only one claim pending against the Clinic--Rotenberry v. Wilhoit and Medical Center Clinic filed on April 14, 1977.

(R. 442-444, 601) Two other claims were filed against the Clinic during the time Mrs. Cook was continuing to see Dr. Wyatt.

During that entire time there were no claims pending against Dr. Gup.

On April 3, 1978, Mrs. Cook was admitted to the hospital and delivered her third child. (T. Vol. IV, p. 644) Upon discharge, Dr. Wyatt told her she had a urinary tract infection and there was blood in her urine. He gave her a prescription. (T. Vol. III, p. 392; T. Vol. IV, p. 673) Mrs. Cook saw Dr. Wyatt again on May 15, 1978, for her six-week postpartum examination. The examination at that time was entirely normal. Dr. Wyatt did not tell Mrs. Cook to return to Dr. Gup, nor that she needed any further examinations to be done. (T. Vol. III, p. 394; T. Vol. IV, pp. 682, 724)

Mrs. Cook had no further urinary problems until August, 1979, fifteen months after her normal examination by Dr. Wyatt. At that time, she once again discovered blood in her urine. She visited another urologist who, after performing a cystoscopy and infusion pyelogram, diagnosed her as having a tumor in her bladder. (T. Vol. III, p. 395) Mrs. Cook then went to see still another urologist, Dr. Howell Martin, who confirmed that diagnosis. Dr. Martin then performed a transurethral resection and removed all of the tumor, which was found to be malignant. He subsequently removed all of Mrs. Cook's bladder in order to keep the cancer from recurring.

Mrs. Cook and her husband sued Dr. Gup and the Medical Center Clinic for negligence in failing to perform diagnostic

tests in 1977 and 1978, and in failing to diagnose the cancer at that time. (R. 1-3) Later, the Cooks joined Dr. Martin as a defendant, alleging that he was negligent in unnecessarily removing her bladder, and in failing to secure her informed consent to that operation. (R. 30-34)

The case was tried on June 14-16, 1986. The jury found that Dr. Gup, the Clinic, Mrs. Cook and Dr. Martin were all negligent. After ruling that the statute of limitations had run against Dr. Martin, the jury assessed the responsibility as follows:

Alex Gup, M.D.

15%

Medical Center Clinic by its agents and employees other than Alex Gup, M.D.

70%

Catherine Cook

15%

TOTAL

100%

(R. 302-303)

SPECIFIC FACTS

Among other post-trial motions, Dr. Gup and the Medical Center Clinic filed a motion to limit their liability to \$200,000.00 (\$100,000.00 each) on the grounds that they were members of the Florida Patients' Compensation Fund at the time of the incidents in question, and that the plaintiffs had failed to join the Fund in the case. The Motion to Limit Liability was filed in accordance with \$768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes, (1977). In pertinent part, that statute provided:

A health care provider shall not be liable for an amount in excess of \$100,000.00 per claim for claims covered under sub-section (3) in this state if, at the

time the incident giving rise to the cause of the claim occurred, the health care provider:

1. Had:

k * *

b. Proved financial responsibility in the amount of \$100,000.00 per claim to the satisfaction of the board of governors of the fund through the establishment of an appropriate escrow account.

Dr. Gup and the Clinic had paid the required fees and assessments for membership in the Florida Patients' Compensation Fund for the period from July 1, 1977, to June 30, 1978, during which time the incident in question occurred. (R. 309-310; T. Vol. VIII, C, p. 12) Certificates of membership had been issued to them. (R. 309-310; T. Vol. VIII, C, p. 12)

The following evidence was presented to show that they were in compliance with the requirements of the statute, and were not liable for an amount in excess of \$100,000.00 for each claim.

Charles Portero, Claims Manager for the Florida Patients'
Compensation Fund, testified by affidavit and by deposition. Mr.
Portero stated that he had researched the records of the Fund,
and had determined that Dr. Gup and the Medical Center Clinic
paid the fees and all assessments required by the Fund for the
years commencing July 1, 1976, and ending July 1, 1978, and that
certificates reflecting their Fund membership were issued to
them. Mr. Portero further testified that Dr. Gup and the Clinic
did all things necessary to comply with \$768.54(2)(b), and that
upon payment of their obligation of \$100,000.00 each, the Florida
Patients' Compensation Fund would have been liable for any

judgment in excess of \$200,000.00 of damages, had it been timely joined as a defendant. (R. 341; Depo. Vol. IV, R. Portero, pp. 11-15)

Charles Portero, the Claims Manager, further testified that the Clinic provided documentary proof of their accounts receivable, that the Clinic was a partnership with seventy partners who would be personally liable for any judgment entered against the Clinic or any of the doctors, and that the \$100,000.00 escrow account was being maintained. Portero testified that those documents and records demonstrated financial responsibility of the Clinic and its members to the satisfaction of the Board of Governors of the Florida Patients' Compensation Fund. (Depo. Vol. IV, R, Portero, pp. 13-14)

Similar testimony regarding the fiscal year July 1, 1977, to June 30, 1978, was offered by John Odem. Mr. Odem was Claims Manager and Assistant General Manager of the Fund in 1977, and later became General Manager of the Fund. Mr. Odem testified that the Medical Center Clinic and Dr. Gup were in compliance with the requirements of the Florida Patients' Compensation Fund during the 1977-1978 fiscal year, and that the Florida Patients' Compensation Fund had previously paid a claim arising during that period where the Fund had been timely joined as a party. (Depo. Vol. IV, T, Odem, pp. 9-10)

Mr. Odem testified that the financial responsibility required by §768.54(2)(b) was demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Fund's Board of Directors through the \$100,000.00 escrow

account, plus the financial statements regarding the assets of the partnership and the assets of the individual partners at the time, which showed total assets on the balance sheet for 1976 of \$9,801,170.41. (Depo. Vol. IV, T, Odem, pp. 17, 22, Def. Ex. 2)

In order to demonstrate "financial responsibility to the satisfaction of the Board of Governors of the Florida Patients' Compensation Fund", the Clinic placed the sum of \$100,000.00, plus accumulating interest, in an escrow account. In addition to that escrow account, at the request of the Fund and the Department of Insurance, the Clinic furnished the Department of Insurance a financial statement evidencing accounts receivable for 1975 of \$6,896,265.98, and for the year 1976 of \$9,167,689.20. (Depo. Vol. IV, R, Portero, p. 13) Further, the Clinic furnished additional proof of its financial responsibility, including a \$1,000,000.00 line of credit, which was available to pay the initial \$100,000.00 per claim. (R. 342) The Florida Department of Insurance acknowledged that Gup and the Medical Center Clinic had complied with the statute. (R. 342; Depo. Vol. III, P, Wester, pp. 21-26)

Cathy Sims, Administrative Manager for the Florida Patients' Compensation Fund from 1979 to 1985, testified from a complete review of their files that the Medical Center Clinic had demonstrated the requisite financial responsibility to the Florida Patients' Compensation Fund for the years in question. (Depo. Vol. III, Q, Sims, p. 36)

Hunt Wester, who was head of the risk management section of the Florida Department of Insurance, was instrumental in drafting the statute creating the Florida Patients' Compensation Fund, had served on the board of the Fund, and served as General Manager of the Florida Patients' Compensation Fund. He personally handled the details of assuring compliance by the Clinic and its physicians with the requirements of §768.54. (Depo. Vol. III, P, Wester, pp. 3-5) In evaluating financial responsibility, Wester testified that the financial stability of the Clinic partnership was strong, with each partner being liable for the actions of the partnership, and by the pledging of over \$7,000,000.00 in accounts receivable. (Depo. Vol. III, P, Wester, pp. 25-28) Those accounts receivable were pledged against claims that may arise, in case there were multiple claims arising during a period of time, so that their escrow would never reduce below \$100,000.00. (Depo. Vol. III, P, Wester, p. 28) Mr. Wester testified that a claim against the Clinic and one of its physicians, in which the Fund was made a party, which arose during the membership year in question, had been paid by the Fund. (Depo. Vol. III, P, Wester, p. 10) Mr. Wester testified that if the Fund had been joined as a party in the Cooks' suit, the Fund would have paid the judgment in excess of the underlying \$200,000.00 owed by the Clinic and Dr. Gup. (Depo. Vol. III, P, Wester, p. 10)

Luther Smith, who had served as the General Manager of the Medical Center Clinic for 35 years, testified that in addition to

the \$100,000.00 in escrow, the assets and accounts receivable of the partnership were available to prove financial responsibility (Depo. Vol. IV, U, Smith, p. 28), that the Medical Center Clinic had a \$1,000,000.00 line of open credit which was a source available to meet claims (Depo. Vol. IV, U, Smith, p. 44), that the Insurance Commissioner and later the Board of Governors of the Fund accepted the \$100,000.00 escrow as adequate, and that the Clinic did everything requested of it by the Department of Insurance or the Fund to fully comply with the statute. (Depo. Vol. IV., U, Smith, pp. 19-22) Additionally, the administrator of the Clinic testified that each time the statute was amended, the Clinic asked the Fund if they were in compliance, and each time the answer came back affirmative. (Depo. Vol. IV, U, Smith, pp. 28-29)

The plaintiffs failed to join the Florida Patients'

Compensation Fund in this suit. The statute of limitations ran against the Fund (prior to the verdict) and therefore the Fund has no obligation to pay any part of the verdict. In order to avoid the effects of their failure to join the Fund, Plaintiffs opposed the Motion to Limit the Judgment by arguing that, notwithstanding the testimony of the Fund's administrators, and the Fund's interpretation of the statute, the statute required Gup and the Clinic to post an escrow account of \$100,000.00 per claim. Failing that, Plaintiff argued Gup and the Clinic were not in technical compliance with the statute and could not limit the judgment. Plaintiffs contended that three claims were

pending during the pertinent time period, so that the Clinic and Dr. Gup were not in compliance of the statute, and therefore they were liable for the full amount of the judgment.

The trial court construed the statute in accordance with the plaintiffs' arguments, and denied the Motion to Limit Judgment.

(R. 708-709)

The trial court based its decision on Mercy Hospital, Inc.,

v. Menendez, 400 So.2d 48 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), (Mercy Hospital

II), holding that in order to be in full compliance with the statute, the Clinic needed to have \$100,000.00 in escrow for each pending claim.

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's decision, but did so on other grounds. Specifically, the First District Court of Appeal stated:

We need not decide whether the trial court's above rationale was correct because the court's denial of the limitation motion is affirmable for another, more basic, reason under the recent holding of this court in Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center v. Meeks, 543 So.2d 770 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

Meeks held that the limitation provisions of §768.54(2)(b) were applicable only to the parties to the Fund contract, i.e., the health care provider and the Fund, and did not preclude the plaintiff from recovering directly from the health care providers the excess over \$100,000.00. Meeks held that it is a misconstruction of §768.54(3)(e) to require that the plaintiff - as contrasted with the health care provider - join the Fund as a party defendant.

In <u>Meeks</u>, the First District Court of Appeals had certified conflict with <u>Mercy Hospital</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, <u>v. Menendez</u>, 371 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), (<u>Mercy Hospital I</u>), which held that "the plaintiffs have the burden of making the Fund a party in any suit where recovery is sought against a health care provider in excess of \$100,000.00..." (371 So.2d at 1079) The First District Court of Appeal in the instant case likewise certified its conflict with <u>Mercy Hospital I</u>.

IV. ISSUES

ISSUE I.

WHETHER A HEALTH CARE PROVIDER WHO IS A MEMBER OF THE PATIENTS' COMPENSATION FUND, AND WHO HAS MET THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS FOR THE LIMITATION OF ITS LIABILITY SET FORTH IN \$768.54(2)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1977) IS ENTITLED TO A LIMITATION OF LIABILITY TO \$100,000.00 WHERE PLAINTIFFS FAILED TO JOIN THE FUND AS A PARTY DEFENDANT?

ISSUE II.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONSTRUING \$768.54(2)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1977), TO REQUIRE A \$100,000.00 ESCROW ACCOUNT PER CLAIM, WHERE THE HEALTH CARE PROVIDER HAD PROVED FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY IN THE AMOUNT OF \$100,000.00 PER CLAIM TO THE SATISFACTION OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FUND?

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I.

A health care provider who is a member of the Florida Patients' Compensation Fund, and who has met the statutory requirements for the limitation of its liability set forth in \$768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1977), is entitled to a limitation of liability to \$100,000.00, where plaintiffs failed to join the Fund as a party defendant. The First District Court of Appeal erred in finding that the defendant/health care provider has the burden to sue the Fund.

The First District Court of Appeal relied on the case

Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center, Inc., v. Meeks, 543

So.2d 770, (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). Meeks is now before the Supreme

Court of Florida for review, based on a certified conflict with

existing case law on this same issue.

The decision of the First District Court of Appeal, holding that the health care provider, not the plaintiff, has the burden of suing the Fund, should be reversed for the following reasons:

- 1. §768.54(3)(e)1. states that the person filing the claim shall not recover against the defendant unless the Fund was named as a <u>defendant</u> in the suit. Under the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, only a plaintiff can name a "defendant" in a lawsuit.
- 2. To require the defendant/health care provider to join the Fund as a defendant (or even as a third-party defendant), imposes upon the health care provider a duty which is in direct conflict with another specific duty imposed by the statute.

Specifically, the statute requires the health care provider to "provide an adequate defense" for the Fund, and states specifically that a "fiduciary relationship" exists toward the Fund with respect to any claim affecting the Fund. The First District Court's ruling creates a conflict between the health care provider and the Fund.

- 3. At least since 1979, when Mercy Hospital I was decided, the Fund, health care providers, and plaintiffs' attorneys, have known that plaintiffs have the burden of making the Fund a party in any suit where recovery is sought against a health care provider in excess of \$100,000.00. Mercy Hospital I made that exact ruling, and stated that its decision was reached upon a consideration of the terms of the legislative act and the court's understanding of the legislative intent of that act.
- 4. Requiring the defendant/health care provider, rather than the plaintiff, to sue the Fund creates a potential for an unavoidable loss of "coverage" by the health care provider. A plaintiff who sues a health care provider shortly before the statute of limitations expires, is able to join the Fund as a party-defendant, as the statute requires. On the other hand, a health care provider who is sued shortly before the running of the statute of limitations, may be unable to sue the Fund before the statute of limitations expires against the Fund. It is clear, therefore, that the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in the case at bar and in Meeks, is contrary to the statute, for those decisions permit an unavoidable forfeiture of

"coverage" by the health care provider without the health care provider being able to prevent it.

5. An interpretation of the statute which requires the health care provider to join the Fund in the case is contrary to the plain language of the statute. If the legislature had intended that result, it could have easily stated that requirement, in plain English. The legislature did not do so.

ISSUE II.

The court erred in construing §768.54(2)(b), Florida

Statutes (1977), to require a \$100,000.00 escrow account per

claim, where the health care provider had proved financial

responsibility in the amount of \$100,000.00 per claim to the

satisfaction of the Board of Governors of the Fund. That ruling

should be reversed for the following several reasons:

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