IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



ALEX GUP, M.D., and THE MEDICAL CENTER CLINIC,

NOV 29 1980

Petitioners,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

vs.

CASE NO. 74,848

Deputy Clerk

KATHERINE COOK and ERNEST A. COOK, Wife and Husband,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENTS KATHERINE COOK and ERNEST A. COOK

WILLIAM C. BAKER, JR. Florida Bar No. 393479 300 East Government Street Pensacola, Florida 32501 (904) 433-0888 Attorney for Respondents

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

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I.

Section 768.54. Florida Statutes (1977), should construed only as a limitation of liability with respect to the fiscal relationship between the Fund and its members, and not as a limitation of liability provided to the Fund members visa-vis an injured plaintiff. In Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center v. Meeks, 543 So.2d 770 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), the First District Court of Appeal held that this is the proper interpretation of the 1979 version of that statute, which in all respects is the same as the 1977 version applicable to this By its express terms, the statute makes joinder of the case. Joinder of the Fund invokes potential Fund Fund permissive. coverage for the defendants. Failure to join the Fund may prevent Fund coverage, but it does not operate to thereby limit how much a plaintiff may collect from the defendants' personal assets.

ISSUE II.

The plaintiff in a medical malpractice case who is awarded a verdict totalling in excess of \$200,000.00 against two defendant health care providers, is entitled to an enforceable Final Judgment for the full verdict amount against those two defendants when those defendants are member of the Fund, but

have failed pursuant to §768.54, Florida Statutes (1977), to put more than \$100,000.00 in escrow while three other malpractice claims are pending against those same defendants.

The claims against Dr. Gup and the Clinic arose as a result of a continuing negligent failure to diagnose cancer in Mrs. Cook from 1977 throughout her last visit to Clinic physician, Dr. Wyatt, on May 15, 1978. The trial judge found as a matter of fact that during that same time frame, at least three other malpractice claims were pending against the Clinic, the Clinic only maintained its original deposit of \$100,000.00 in escrow. Any potential limitation of liability that might have been afforded to the defendants §768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1977), was conditioned upon the defendants having escrowed at least \$100,000.00 per claim pending at the time the incidents occurred which gave rise to Mrs. Cook's causes of action. The trial court's findings of fact now become the law of the case. The trial court properly applied §768.54, Florida Statutes (1977), and Mercy Hospital, Inc., v. Menendez, 400 So.2d 48 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), in denying the defendants' Motion to Limit Liability. The plaintiff is entitled to an enforceable Final Judgment against both defendants for the full verdict amount.

ISSUE III.

The defendant, and not the plaintiff, in a medical malpractice case is required to join the Fund as a party to the case, in order to invoke the potential limitation of liability provisions set forth in §768.54, Florida Statutes (1977). Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center v. Meeks, 543 So.2d 770 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), the First District Court of Appeal supported that view, but certified conflict with Mercy Hospital, Inc., v. Menendez, 371 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), thereby leaving it up to this Court to ultimately decide that issue. Joinder of the Fund would have made no difference in this case anyway since the trial court found as a matter of fact that the defendants had failed to properly fund their escrow account pursuant to §768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1977). Pursuant to §768.54(3)(a), Florida Statutes (1977), the Fund shall be liable only for payment of claims against health care providers who are in compliance with the provisions of subsection (2)(b).

There is no conflict of interest created by placing on the defendants the burden of naming the Fund as a party. The fiduciary relationship to which the defendants allude, exists only between the defendants' insurer or self-insurer and the Fund. See §768.54(3)(e)2, Florida Statutes (1977). Here the defendants are not insurers and did not have insurance. Here

the defendant specifically chose not to qualify as a self-insurer under \$768.54(2)(b)1d, Florida Statutes (1977). Section 768.54(3)(e)1, provides that the Fund shall retain its own counsel and actively defend itself. The Supreme Court noted in Taddiken v. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund, 478 So.2d 1078 (Fla. 1985), that the Fund and health care providers have a mutuality of interest in defending the suit, but it is also true that their interests are not congruent, and only the Fund can best decide how to protect itself.

ISSUE IV.

A defendant in a medical malpractice case who fails to plead the potential limitation of liability provisions set forth in §768.54, Florida Statutes (1977), as an affirmative defense, thereby waives any potential limitations of liability and excludes such from consideration in the case. See Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center v. Meeks, 543 So.2d 770 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) which refers to Jakobsen v. Massachusetts Port Authority, 520 F.2d 810 (1st Cir. 1975). Here, the defendants never pled limitation of liability as an affirmative defense, thereby waiving any potential limitation to which they might have otherwise been entitled.

VI. ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT--ISSUE I

SECTION 768.54, FLORIDA STATUTES (1977), SHOULD BE CONSTRUED ONLY AS A LIMITATION OF LIABILITY WITH RESPECT TO THE FISCAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE FUND AND ITS MEMBERS, AND NOT AS A LIMITATION OF LIABILITY PROVIDED TO THE FUND MEMBERS VIS-A-VIS AN INJURED PLAINTIFF.

In <u>Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center v. Meeks</u>, 543 So.2d 770 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), the court held that this is the proper interpretation of the 1979 version of that statute, which in all respects is the same as the 1977 version applicable to this case. The <u>Meeks</u> court held that the statute makes joinder of the Fund permissive.

\$768.54(3)(e), Florida Statutes (1977), Claims procedures:

Any person may file an action against a participating health care provider for damages covered under the fund, except that the person filing the claim shall not recover against the fund for any portion of a judgment for damages arising out of the rendering of, or failure to render, medical care or services against a health care provider for damages covered under the fund unless the fund was named as a defendant in the suit. id. at 775 (Emphasis added.)

The statute does not contain any language to the effect that a negligent health care provider does not have to pay the full extent of a Final Judgment against said health care provider when the Fund is not named as a party to the lawsuit. If the legislature had intended for the doctors and the Clinic to get

away without having to pay valid judgments against them then the legislature would have written the statute so stating exactly that. No matter what the legislature's intent was at the time this statute was framed, the plain meaning of this statute does not give it the interpretation that the defendants desire.

When a statute is enacted in derogation of common law, it must be strictly construed. <u>Carlisle v. Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission</u>, 354 So.2d 362 (Fla. 1978). Inference and implication cannot be substituted for clear expression. <u>id.</u> at 364.

If this Court accepts the rationale of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Meeks</u>, then the First District Court of Appeal decision in the instance case should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT--ISSUE II

THE PLAINTIFF IN A MEDICAL MALPRACTICE CASE WHO IS AWARDED A VERDICT TOTALLING IN EXCESS OF \$200,000.00 AGAINST TWO HEALTH CARE PROVIDERS, IS ENTITLED TO AN JUDGMENT FOR THE FULL VERDICT ENFORCEABLE FINAL TWO DEFENDANTS, TRUOMA AGAINST THOSE WHEN DEFENDANTS ARE MEMBERS OF THE FUND, BUT HAVE FAILED PURSUANT TO \$768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1977), TO PUT MORE THAN \$100,000.00 IN ESCROW, WHILE THREE OTHER MEDICAL MALPRACTICE CLAIMS ARE PENDING AGAINST THOSE SAME DEFENDANTS.

The defendants here did not comply with the \$100,000.00 per claim escrow requirements mandated by \$768.54(2)(b)1b, Florida Statutes (1977), which states:

(b) A health care provider shall not be liable for an amount in excess of \$100,000.00 per claim for claims covered under subsection (3) in this state if, at the time the incident giving rise to the cause of the claim occurred, the health care provider:

1. Had:

- (a) Posted bond in the amount of \$100,000.00 per claim;
- (b) Provided financial responsibility in the amount of \$100,000.00 per claim to the satisfaction of the board of governors of the fund through the establishment of an appropriate escrow account.
- (c) Obtained medical malpractice insurance in the amount of \$100,000.00 or more per claim from private insurers or the Joint Underwriting Association established under subsection 627.351(7); or
- (d) Obtained self-insurance as provided in s.726.357, providing coverage in an amount of \$100,000.00 or more per claim, and...(Emphasis added.)

Although the defendants could have chosen to potentially limit their liability by complying with any one of four

subsections of this statute, only subsection 1b is at issue. The defendants admit that subsections 1a, 1c and 1d were not complied with at the times material to this case. (R. deposition, P, 19-22); (R. deposition, Q, 19-22); (R. deposition, T, 22-23).

The former statute on this subject was §627.353(1)1b, Florida Statutes (1975), which stated:

(b) Each such licensed hospital, physician, physician's assistant, osteopath or podiatrist shall not be liable for an amount in excess of \$100,000.00 for claims arising out of the rendering of medical care or services in this state, if, at the time of the incident giving rise to the cause of the claim occurred, the hospital, physician, physician's assistant, osteopath or podiatrist:

1. Had:

(a) Posted bond in the amount of \$100,000;

(b) Proved financial responsibility in the amount of \$100,000 to the satisfaction of the Insurance Commissioner through the establishment of an appropriate escrow account.

(c) Obtained medical insurance in the amount of \$100,000.00 or more from private insurers or the joint underwriting association established under Subsection 627.351(a);

(d) Obtained self-insurance as provided in s. 627.355, providing coverage in an amount of \$100,000.00 or more, and... (Emphasis added.) (R. deposition P 4).

The statute was amended effectively October 1976, to include the phrase "per claim" in subsection (2)(b)1b. See CH 76-260, Section 6, Laws of Florida. Here, the defendants cannot escape, or circumvent, the factual finding that their original escrow deposit of \$100,000.00 was never supplemented

with additional \$100,000.00 deposits, even though three other malpractice claims were simultaneously pending against the Clinic. (R. 708). The trial Judge in this case made the following findings of fact in his order denying defendant's Motion to Limit Judgment:

- That Plaintiff, Katherine Cook, was under the care and treatment of Dr. Gup and other agents and employees of The Medical Center Clinic from September 28, 1977, through May 15, 1978.
- That a jury verdict was rendered in this cause on June 16, 1986, finding that the negligence of the parties which was a legal cause of the damages sustained by Plaintiff, Katherine Cook, was apportionable as follows:

Alex Gup, M.D. The Medical Center Clinic, by its agents and employees	15%
other than Alex Gup, M.D.	70%
Katherine Cook	<u>15%</u>
TOTAL	100%

- 3. That The Medical Center Clinic established an escrow account in the amount of \$100,000.00 at the Barnett Bank of Pensacola in February, 1976, pursuant to Florida Statutes, § 768.54(2)(b). escrow account was maintained \$100,000.00 during the period of time the incidents giving rise to the subject cause of action occurred. This escrow account established for the benefit of The Medical Center Clinic and all doctors who were members of The Medical Center Clinic.
- 4. Defendants, The Medical Center Clinic and Alex Gup, M.D., did not establish any other escrow accounts pursuant to Florida Statutes, §768.54(2)(b)(1)b; did not post bonds in the amount of \$100,000.00 per claim pursuant to Florida Statutes, Florida Statutes, not \$768.54(2)(b)(1)a; did purchase medical malpractice insurance in the amount \$100,000.00 per claim pursuant Florida to Statutes, §768.54(2)(b)(1)c; and did not make

- application nor qualify as a self-insured pursuant to Florida Statutes, §768.54(2)(b)(1)d.
- 5. During the period of time the incidents occurred giving rise to the subject cause of action against Defendants, Alex Gup, M.D. and The Medical Center Clinic, there were three other medical malpractice claims pending with Florida Patients' Compensation Fund coverage.
- 6. Defendants, Alex Gup, M.D. and The Medical Center Clinic, failed to comply with the \$100,000.00 per claim requirement of Florida Statutes, §768.54(2)(b).

(R. 708).

Those findings of fact are supported by competent substantial evidence.

Findings of fact by a trial judge come to the Supreme Court clothed with the presumption of correctness. Those fact findings should not be disturbed unless there is a lack of substantial competent evidence to support the trial court's conclusion. The standard of review is to determine whether the trial judge abused his discretion in the fact finding process. Strawgate v. Turner, 339 So.2d 1112 (Fla. 1976), Delgado v. Strong, 360 So.2d 73 (Fla.1978), Shapiro v. State, 390 So.2d 344 (Fla. 1980), Marsh v. Marsh, 419 So.2d 629 (Fla. 1982)

Here, the defendants have not alleged abuse of discretion, nor could the defendants show an abuse of discretion. Therefore, the fact of their noncompliance with the mandatory statutory escrow requirement is conclusive as a matter of law at this stage of the proceeding.

This Court should not accept the manner in which the defendants have framed their first issue because it presumes

compliance with §768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1977), when the trial court has already conclusively found noncompliance as a matter of fact.

In Mercy Hospital, Inc., v. Menendez, 400 So.2d 48 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), the court found as fact that the defendant hospital had only \$100,000.00 maintained in escrow, yet eight malpractice claims were pending against that hospital. The Mercy II court affirmed the trial court's ruling that the hospital's failure to properly fund the escrow account on a "per claim" basis, prevented the hospital from asserting any limitation of liability it might have otherwise been afforded under \$768.54(2)(b)1, Florida Statutes (1976 Supp.). The 1977 version of that statute, which applies in this case, is the same as the 1976 supplement version in the Mercy Hospital II case. The court in Mercy Hospital II noted the following with respect to subparagraphs a through d of the 1976 and 1977 versions of the subject statute:

Reading subparagraphs a-d together, see 30 Fla.Jur.Statutes §91 (1974), it is plain that the legislature sought to precondition the right to limit liability upon the provision, through one of four alternative means, of security for the payment of every claim up to \$100,000.00. This conclusion strengthened by the fact that paragraphs a-d then contained in Section (1976), were 627.353 Fla.Stat. specifically amended by inserting the words Ch. 76-"per claim" after "\$100,000.00." Laws of 260, §6, Fla. See Fla.Jur.Statutes §97 (1974). There is thus no basis for Mercy's contention that any escrowed amount whatever would comply with paragraph "b" so long as the board of governors approved. The "satisfaction" of the board provided in the statute obviously refers only to its satisfaction that the account actually exists orproperly secured, rather than to its approval of the amount. That issue is (or was) mandated by statute. id. at 49,50,n2

Here, the application of Mercy II would require a legal ruling that the defendants are not entitled to any limitation of liability to which they might have otherwise been entitled, had they properly funded their escrow account on a per claim basis in compliance with §768.54(2)(b)1b, Florida Statutes (1977).

Since the defendants were not in compliance with subsection (2)(b)1b, then the Fund would not have been liable to pay this verdict even if the Fund had been named as a party to this lawsuit. See §768.54(3)(a), Florida Statutes (1977), which states in part:

The fund shall be liable only for payment of claims against health care providers who are in compliance with the provisions of paragraph (2)(b),...

The financial strength of the Medical Center Clinic, aside from the \$100,000.00 maintained in escrow, is of no significance. Nevertheless, the defendants and the Fund relied upon the post-trial testimony of various fund employees and exemployees and testimony from Luther Smith, manager of the Clinic, to establish that the Clinic allegedly is rich enough to pay the first \$100,000.00 of all their malpractice claims, even though only one lump sum of \$100,000.00 has been

maintained in escrow. The defendants call this "financial responsibility" and intend to have this Court construe "financial responsibility" as a substitute for what the legislature has mandated by statute. That mandate is an escrow account. See §768.54(2)(b)1b, Florida Statutes (1977), and Mercy II at 49,50,n2.

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